

ABN 47 106 187 731 AFSL 240506

PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

MASTER MORTGAGE FUND NO. 6

ARSN 114 364 886 DATED 15 NOVEMBER 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Corporate Directory			
Important Notice			
Introd	uctory letter	5	
1.0	Investment Summary	6	
2.0	Business Overview	14	
3.0	Role of the Manager	19	
4.0	Corporate Governance	20	
5.0	Costs and Fees	22	
6.0	Financial Information	25	
7.0	Risk Factors	26	
8.0	Taxation and Other Matters	29	
9.0	0 Material Contracts		
10.0	0 Additional Information		
11.0 Definitions & Glossary			
How to	How to Invest in this Scheme		
Guide	Guide to Completing the Application Form 36		

Application Form

Appendix



Silver @ the Exchange in Varsity Lakes partly funded by Guardian Securities

Master Mortgage Fund No 6 ARSN 114 364 886

CORPORATE DIRECTORY

RESPONSIBLE ENTITY AND MANAGER

Guardian Securities Limited ABN 47 106 187 731 Australian Financial Services Licence No. 240506

QUEENSLAND OFFICE

Suite 7 211 Ron Penhaligon Way ROBINA QLD 4226 Phone: (07) 5562 0888 Fax: (07) 5562 0959

TOLL FREE

1800 60 11 77

MAILING ADDRESS

PO Box 170 Robina QLD 4226 AUSTRALIA

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

Managing Director: Director: Director:

EMAIL

info@guardiansecurities.com.au WEBSITE www.guardiansecurities.com.au

Guy Hasenkam Christopher Wilson Gerry Ward

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF GUARDIAN SECURITIES, THE SCHEME AND COMPLIANCE PLAN

PKF Chartered Accountants Level 5, RSL Centre 9 Beach Road Surfers Paradise Qld 4217

LAWYERS FOR GUARDIAN SECURITIES

GRT Lawyers Level 1 400 Queen Street BRISBANE QId 4000

Product Disclosure Statement 15 November 2013

IMPORTANT NOTICE

This PDS and any Supplementary PDS contains important information about the investment opportunity and the risks associated with a mortgage Investment.

Before making a decision to invest, please read this PDS and any Supplementary PDS in full to gain a better appreciation of the risks associated with this offer and any specific mortgage Investment. If in doubt regarding a particular Investment, please consult your investment adviser or other professionals.

Guardian Securities Limited (Guardian Securities) ACN 106 187 731 is the issuer of this Product Disclosure Statement (PDS) which is dated the 15 November 2013.

Guardian Securities is licenced by ASIC (AFS Licence No. 240506) to act as the Responsible Entity (RE) for the Master Mortgage Fund No. 6 ARSN 114 364 886 (Scheme).

Neither the Responsible Entity, nor its associates, directors nor related parties guarantee the performance or success of the investment, the repayment of capital, or any particular rate of capital or income return.

There may be a loss of income or principal invested and delays in repayment. Some of the risk factors that should be considered are set out in Section 7.

Applications to invest may only be made on the Application Form attached to this PDS or a Supplementary PDS or in its paper copy form as downloaded in its entirety from www.guardiansecurities.com.au.

Defined terms and abbreviations used in this PDS are explained in Section 11 Definitions and Glossary. The properties depicted in photographs in this PDS are not assets of the RE or the Scheme unless otherwise noted.

These images are indicative only of types of properties over which mortgages may be taken by Guardian Securities on behalf of Investors. Investment in the Scheme is likely to be illiquid. Investors may only withdraw their funds from the Scheme before those funds are invested in a mortgage Investment.

The offer under this PDS is available to persons receiving the PDS within Australia. The distribution of this PDS in jurisdictions outside Australia may be restricted by law and persons who come into possession of it should seek advice on and observe any such restrictions. This PDS does not constitute an offer to any person to whom or in any place in which it would be illegal to make that offer.

No person is authorised to provide any information or to make any statement in connection with the offer described in this PDS, which is not included in this PDS.

This PDS does not take into account the investment objectives, financial situation and particular needs of any potential Investor. Accordingly before you invest you should read this PDS and any Supplementary PDS in full.

Financial advice is not being provided and your financial needs have not been taken into account. We therefore recommend that before making a decision to invest in the Scheme you should consult a financial planner or other professional adviser.

This PDS contains important information and you should read it carefully and in its entirety and if required, obtain independent legal and financial advice.

INTRODUCTORY LETTER

Dear Investor

On behalf of **Guardian Securities Limited**, it is my pleasure to introduce our contributory mortgage Scheme inviting Investors to invest in a range of property loans approved by the Board. In a contributory mortgage scheme, Investors have a direct interest in the mortgage they choose to invest in rather than an indirect interest in a pool of mortgages as in a pooled mortgage fund.

Details of each particular mortgage investment will be set out in a supplementary PDS. You may only invest in a particular mortgage investment by signing the consent to invest form in the applicable supplementary PDS.

While many investment offers have a number of features that may apply, there are six basic questions investors need to ask when considering investment alternatives offered by promoters, whether they are for shares, property or other investments. These are:

\succ	HOW	much money do you want?	
\triangleright	WHAT	do you want it for?	
\triangleright	WHO	is looking after my money?	
\triangleright	WHAT'S	in it for me and is it fair value for risk?	
۶	WHEN	do I get my money back?	
۶	НОМ	do I get my money back?	

Too often investors look at a return **ON** equity and sometimes ignore return **OF** equity. Higher than normal returns generally mean a higher risk attached to that return. The risk tolerance of investors vary greatly according to net worth, experience, age, portfolio diversification, taxation and retirement benefits.

At Guardian Securities all of our offers fully disclose the amount of funds to be raised, investment details of the loan for which funds will be applied, information on Guardian Securities and the applicable management fees charged, return to Investors, the term of the Investment and how investor funds will be repaid.

With in-depth knowledge of the Australian property market and many years' experience in property funding and investment, risk minimisation coupled with continuous research, the board of Guardian Securities carefully analyses each loan proposal before making available the offer to potential Investors. This contributory mortgage Scheme has been in continuous operation since 2005 offering investors a range of mortgage investments over most types of commercial and residential property.

This management expertise is further enhanced by a compliance committee which consists of a majority of independent members who review the role of the Responsible Entity. In addition the Scheme is audited annually by a major audit firm and this financial information is available to investors.

The Responsible Entity is required to maintain Professional Indemnity insurance of \$5 million plus adhere to a number of ASIC requirements to maintain a certain net worth and surplus liquid funds.

As always any investment carries certain risks and we recommend you read the Risk Factors in Section 7 of this PDS and any Supplementary PDS.

On behalf of the directors and the management team of Guardian Securities Limited, I look forward to welcoming you as an investor in the Scheme.

Guy Hasenkam

Managing Director Guardian Securities Limited

1. INVESTMENT SUMMARY

1.1 Key Features

Name of Scheme	Master Mortgage Fund No. 6 ARSN 114 364 886		
Manager and Responsible Entity	Guardian Securities Limited ABN 47 106 187 731		
AFS License Number	240506		
Investment Objective	To lend funds to and invest in most types of real estate and property developments within Australia in accordance with established lending criteria outlined in the Manager's Lending Manual. The Manager seeks to generate a return to investors from the interest charged to borrowers under a mortgage Investment.		
Type of Investment	Contributory Mortgages		
Investment Term	Ranging from 6 to 24 months.		
Rate of Return	1 st Mortgages ranging from 9.0% to 13.0% 2 nd Mortgages ranging from 14.0% to 20.0%		
Minimum Investment	The minimum investment is \$10,000 and thereafter in multiples of \$1,000. Guardian Securities reserves the right to accept Applications of less than \$10,000 at its discretion.		
Responsible Entity and Management Fees	There are no entry, exit or management fees payable by the Investor to the Manager for direct mortgage investments into the Scheme. The Manager will receive interest income and fees from the Borrower as described in this PDS. Please refer to Section 5 Costs and Fees for more detail. The Borrower, and not the Investor, is responsible for all costs and fees associated with the establishment of a mortgage loan.		
Loan to Value Ratio (LVR):	 1st Mortgages – up to 70% "as if complete" for construction and development loans 1st Mortgages – up to 70% "as is" market value for all other types of loans 2nd Mortgages – up to 80% "as if complete" for construction and development loans 		
Risks	There are risks associated with investing in a mortgage investment. See section 7 of this PDS for risks generally associated with mortgage schemes. Additional risks associated with a particular investment will be spelt out in the supplementary PDS applicable to that particular mortgage investment.		

The key risks are:

- Default risk default by a borrower under a mortgage investment may result in loss of an investor's capital;
- Second mortgage risk a second mortgage is inherently more risky than a first mortgage, as the first mortgagee is repaid first upon a default;
- Construction funding risk mortgage investments to fund construction projects carry additional risks, including:
 - construction will cost more or take longer than expected; and
 - sales will be at prices lower than expected or take longer than expected;
- Valuation risk if valuations of the security property on which the Manager relies overstate the market value of the security property, there is a risk that investors will lose capital if there is a default and the security property is sold.

You can find more detail on these risks in section 7.



Phoenix Residential Development is a prestigious waterfront development project in Varsity Lakes with an end value of AUD \$55M. Guardian assisted with the initial funding of this project.

1.2 ASIC Regulatory Guide 45 Mortgage schemes: Improving disclosure for retail investors - Issued May 2012

ASIC Benchmarks	Benchmark Statement	Explanation	References
 Benchmark 1: Liquidity For a pooled mortgage scheme, the responsible entity has cash flow estimates for the scheme that: (a) Demonstrate the scheme's capacity to meet its expenses, liabilities and other cash flow needs for the next 12 months; (b) are updated at least every three months and reflect any material changes; and (c) are approved by the directors of the responsible entity at least every three months. 	Not applicable to this Scheme.	This benchmark applies only to Pooled Mortgage Funds. This PDS deals specifically with Contributory Mortgages; hence this Benchmark is not applicable in this instance. Investors do not have the right to redeem their Investment prior to the loan being repaid by the borrower.	Not applicable to this Scheme.
Benchmark 2: Scheme borrowing The responsible entity does not have current borrowings and does not intend to borrow on behalf of the scheme.	Benchmark met.	As at the date of this PDS, the RE or the Scheme has no external debts and there is neither a requirement for the Scheme to borrow funds nor a provision to do so.	No provision for the Scheme to borrow funds.
 Benchmark 3: Portfolio diversification For a pooled mortgage scheme: (a) the scheme holds a portfolio of assets diversified by size, borrower, class of borrower activity and geographic region; (b) the scheme has no single asset in the scheme portfolio that exceeds 5% of the total scheme assets; (c) the scheme has no single borrower who exceeds 5% of the scheme assets; and (d) all loans made by the scheme are secured by first mortgages over real property (including registered leasehold title.) 	Not applicable to this Scheme.	This benchmark applies to Pooled Mortgage Funds. Offers under this PDS are for an investment into contributory mortgage schemes; as such investors have a proportional beneficial interest in the assets of the Scheme in which they invest but will not have an interest in other schemes or assets of the Manager.	Not applicable to this Scheme.
Benchmark 4: Related party transactions The responsible entity does not lend to related parties of the responsible entity or to the scheme's investment manager.	Benchmark met.	It is the strict policy of the Board that no investor funds are advanced to related parties of Guardian Securities Limited as defined in the Corporations Act.	Refer to Section 7 – Risk Factors – Related Party Risk

ASIC Benchmarks	Benchmark Statement	Explanation	References
 Benchmark 5: Valuation policy In relation to valuations for the scheme's mortgage assets and their security property, the board of the responsible entity requires: (a) a valuer to be a member of an appropriate professional body in the jurisdiction in which the relevant property is located; (b) a valuer to be independent; (c) procedures to be followed for dealing with any conflict of interest; (d) the rotation and diversity of valuers; (e) in relation to security property for a loan, an independent valuation to be obtained: (i) before the issue of a loan and on renewal: (A) for development property, on both an 'as is' and 'as if complete' basis; and (B) for all other property, on an 'as is' basis; and (ii) within two months after the directors form a view that there is a likelihood that a decrease in the value of security property may have caused a material breach of a loan covenant. 	Benchmark met.	The Manager has an approved list of independent panel Valuers that are registered under the appropriate state registration and ensures that all valuations comply with all relevant industry standards and codes. Valuers need to comply with the Manager's standing instruction to Valuers. Valuations are obtained on a market value "as is" or "as if complete" basis for construction and development loans assuming specified improvements are made. Valuations must be dated not more than ninety (90) days prior to loan approval. New valuations are obtained when: - a loans in excess of two (2) years; - when a loan falls into default; - where there is a likelihood of a decrease in value of that property.	Guardian's lending criteria are set out in Section 2.6 and all loans are secured by registered first and/or second mortgages. Details of valuations in regards to specific Investments are disclosed in an accompanying Supplementary PDS.
 Benchmark 6: Lending principles – loan to value ratios If the scheme directly holds mortgage assets where: (a) the loan relates to property development – funds are provided to the borrower in stages based on independent evidence of the progress of the development; (b) the loan relates to property development – the scheme does not lend more than 70% on the basis of the latest 'as if complete' valuation of property over which security is provided; and (c) in all other cases – the scheme does not lend more than 80% on the basis of the latest market valuation of property over which security is provided. 	Benchmark met for (a) and (b) 1 st mortgage transactions. Benchmark not met for (c) 2 nd mortgage transactions where the loan to value ratio exceeds 70% of the "as if complete" valuation.	 The Manager will consider all loans that meet the following loan to value ratios: (a) 1st mortgages for property development – up to 70% of the "as if complete" market valuation (b) 1st mortgages for completed projects – up to 80% of the "as is" market valuation (c) 2nd mortgages – up to 80% of the "as is" or "as if complete" market valuation 	Investment specific loan to value ratios are disclosed in the Supplementary PDS associated with the relevant Investment.

ASIC Benchmarks		Benchmark Statement	Explanation	References	
Benchmark 7: Distribution practices The responsible entity will not pay current distributions from scheme borrowings.		Benchmark met.	Distributions to Investors vary for Investment Offers and details of these are disclosed in the Supplementary PDS associated with those Investments. Distributions to Investors are made from interest payments received from the borrower or where interest is capitalised within the facility from loan funds withheld from the borrower to meet Investor interest payments. There is no provision for the Manager to meet or subsidise distributions to Investors from other assets of the Manager or from other schemes controlled by the Manager. An Investor may only withdraw that part of their Investment that has not been invested in a mortgage Investment. This request to withdrawal. Once investor funds are allocated to a specific mortgage Investment, Investors do not have a right of early withdrawal from that mortgage Investment until the relevant		
 Benchmark 8: Withdrawal arrangements Liquid schemes: (a) The maximum period allowed for in the constitution for the payment of withdrawal requests is 90 days or less; (b) The responsible entity will pay withdrawal requests within the period allowed for in the constitution; and (c) The responsible entity only permits members to withdraw at any time on request it at least 80% (by value) of the scheme property is: (i) Money in an account or on deposit with a bank and is available for withdrawal immediately, or otherwise on expiry of a fixed term not exceeding 90 days, during the normal business hours of the bank, or (ii) Assets that the responsible entity can reasonably expect to realise for market value within 10 business days. 		Benchmark met.	An Investor may only withdraw that part of their Investment that has not been invested in a mortgage Investment. This request to withdraw non-allocated funds must be made by providing fourteen (14) days written notice to the Manager requesting withdrawal. Once investor funds are allocated to a specific mortgage Investment, Investors do not have a right of early withdrawal from that mortgage Investment until the relevant loan is repaid by the borrower.	withdrawals due to loan extensions or rollovers please refer to Section 7 – Risk Factors	
Non-liquid schemes: For non-liquid schemes, the responsible entity intends to make withdrawal offers to investors at least quarterly.		Not applicable.			

1.3 The Offer – Significant Benefits and Features

Contributory Mortgage Schemes	The offer is a contributory mortgage Scheme which means that Investors can select which mortgage Investment best suits their risk profile. Investments are not pooled with other Investors' money and each Investor holds a beneficial interest in the mortgage in which they choose to invest. In pooled schemes, investors do not have an interest in a particular loan, but have an interest in scheme property as a whole. The details of each mortgage Investment will be set out in a supplementary PDS. An investor may only invest in a particular mortgage Investment by signing the consent form in the supplementary PDS applicable for that mortgage Investment.
Attractive Investment Returns	The returns offered to Investors will range from 9-13% per annum for first mortgage investments (and 14-20% per annum on second mortgage investments) with payments made on a regular basis direct to nominated bank accounts. Details of each investment return will be outlined in a Supplementary Product Disclosure Statement. Distributions to Investors are generated by interest payments received from the borrower of the Scheme.
No Fees and Costs payable by Investor	No entry or exit fees are payable by Investors. The borrower pays all of the establishment fees and interest costs on the loan. This means that the investor's total investment capital is receiving interest returns.
Minimum Investment	The minimum application is \$10,000 with further increments of \$1,000 providing the flexibility for Investors to choose the level of capital investment into various products and thereby diversifying their investment portfolio. The Manager has the right to accept lower amounts at its discretion.
Directors Expertise	The Directors have considerable knowledge and experience in property valuations and lending to most property sectors and are well known and respected in the property development community in Queensland.
Investor Profile	The investment is suitable for a range of investor classes including self- managed superannuation funds, enabling diversity of investment portfolios.
Investment Term	Investment terms range from 6 to 24 months providing Investors the ability to select the most appropriate investment strategy suitable for their own cash flow planning.
ASIC and Statutory Licensing and Legislation	Guardian Securities Limited currently meets all of the regulatory and legal requirements imposed by ASIC for holders of licenses of this type. Investors can take comfort that their money is held in specified mortgages and that independent parties regularly check on the performance of the Manager.



11 | P a g e

Product Disclosure Statement 15 November 2013

1.4 Application and Application Monies

This PDS invites Investors to invest in the Scheme. Once an application to invest in the Scheme is accepted, the investment will be held in an interest bearing trust account. Upon approval of a specific mortgage Investment, the Manager issues a Supplementary PDS in respect of that mortgage Investment.

The Supplementary PDS provides details of the mortgage Investment on offer and invites Investors to invest a nominated amount of their Investment in that mortgage Investment.

The Manager will not invest any Investment in a specific mortgage Investment until the Investor has applied to do so on the 'Consent to Invest Form' attached to the applicable Supplementary PDS.

1.5 Investment Offers

Investors' funds will be used to fund a range of projects to experienced developers which are to be secured by registered first and/or second mortgages plus directors' guarantees and other forms of security.

Details of each mortgage investment offered to Investors including details of the borrower, location of the secured property, financial information and background of the borrower and directors, loan to value ratios, fees and applicable charges, and supporting information such as a valuation summary from an approved valuer will be provided in the Supplementary PDS applicable to the relevant mortgage Investment.

Investors will be able to choose from a range of mortgage Investments approved by the Manager.

1.6 Who Can Invest In The Scheme?

An Application may be made in the name of an individual, multiple individuals, a partnership, company including where such persons are acting as trustee of a trust or a Self-Managed Superannuation Fund.

1.7 Minimum Investment

The minimum investment is \$10,000 and thereafter in multiples of \$1,000. Guardian Securities reserves the right to accept Applications of less than \$10,000 or multiples of less than \$1,000 at its discretion.

1.8 How to Apply

This Product Disclosure Statement along with the associated Supplementary Product Disclosure Statement(s) contains important information about the Scheme and the Offer. To invest we suggest:

READ	Please read this Product Disclosure Statement and the associated Supplementary Product Disclosure Statement(s) carefully.	
CONSIDER	Consider all the risk factors (refer Section 7) and other information concerning the Scheme in light of your own particular investment objectives and circumstances.	
COMPLETE	Complete the Application Form which accompanies this Product Disclosure Statement and the applicable Supplementary Product Disclosure Statement by following the instructions provided.	
SEND	Send a completed Application Form together with payment of your Application Monies to Guardian Securities at the address provided on the Application Form.	

1.9 Payment of Application Moneys

Cheques

Cheques must be made payable to Guardian Securities Limited - MMF No. 6. All cheques must be drawn on an Australian authorised deposit taking institution and crossed "not negotiable".

Direct Credit / Electronic Transfer

Applicants wishing to pay by direct credit or electronic transfer should call Guardian Securities on **1800 60 11 77** to receive particulars of the Guardian Securities applications account and other instructions necessary to complete payment. Details are also provided in the Application Form attached to this PDS.

1.10 Acceptance of Application

In the event that an offer is oversubscribed or does not proceed for any other reason, Guardian Securities has the sole discretion to accept or to decline an Application, or a portion of an Application.

To the extent that Applications are unsuccessful, all Application Moneys received from an unsuccessful Applicant will be returned to that Applicant within five (5) business days of receipt of the Application.

1.11 Cooling Off Period

Prior to the allocation of investment funds into a specific mortgage Investment approved by the Manager and accepted by the Investor in a Supplementary PDS, the Investor has the right to withdraw the initial or subsequent Investment (without penalty or fees) within fourteen (14) days of receiving confirmation from the Manager that the investment funds have been accepted and processed.

Requests to withdraw invested funds must be done in writing to the address shown in the Corporate Directory on page 3 of this document.

Upon receipt of such withdrawal request the Manager will redeem the invested funds to the Investor within seven (7) days of such request.

1.12 Investor Statement / Certificate

Investors are issued with an Investment Certificate confirming the amount of their Investment, Ioan conditions and date received within 7 business days of receipt of the Application and allocation to a specific mortgage Investment.

1.13 Investor Distributions

Distributions to Investors will be made in accordance with the Constitution of the Scheme and as outlined in the Supplementary PDS. Interest returns to Investors will generally be calculated in arrears on a monthly basis and paid to Investors by the fourteenth (14th) day of the following month, subject to timely receipt of interest payments from the borrower.

Distributions will be paid to Investors by direct deposit into a bank account nominated by the Investor as provided on the Application Form. These distributions are taxable in the hands of the Investor. Guardian Securities is not responsible for incorrect bank details provided by Investors. Any changes to the bank details of Investors should be notified in writing as soon as practicable to enable distributions to continue on a regular basis.

1.14 Reporting To Investors

Investors will be provided with regular updates detailing the progress of their Investment.

Prior to 30 September each year, Investors will be provided with a tax certificate outlining details of their investment and the amount of income earned for the previous financial year.

Investors will also be kept informed of any significant changes in the operations of the Manager that may impact on their Investment.

1.15 Investor Meetings

Under the Constitution the Manager must hold Investor Meetings under the following conditions:

- The Manager must call and arrange to hold a meeting of the Investors to consider and vote on a proposed special or extraordinary resolution on the request of:
 - a. Investors with at least 5% of the votes that may be cast on the resolution; or
 - b. at least 100 Investors who are entitled to vote on the resolution.
- > The request by the Investors must be in writing; state any resolution to be proposed at the meeting; and be signed by the Investors proposing to move the resolution.
- > The Manager must call the meeting within twenty-one (21) days after the request is given to it. The meeting must be held not later than two (2) months after the request is given to the Manager.
- > A Member who is entitled to attend and cast a vote at a meeting of Investors may appoint a person as the Member's proxy to attend and vote for the Member at the meeting.

Under the Constitution of the Scheme, Investors may elect to remove the Manager as Responsible Entity of the Scheme by holding an Investors meeting in line with section 601FM of the Corporations Act.

2. BUSINESS OVERVIEW

2.1 Company Background

Guardian Securities Limited is an unlisted public company holding an Australian Financial Services Licence No. 240506. Guardian Securities was established in 2004 to provide the framework for good business practices, underpinned by highly skilled and motivated professionals who actively manage carefully selected and thoroughly investigated investment opportunities to mitigate risks and maximise returns to stakeholders.

Guardian Securities is supported by a board of directors with many years' experience in property transactions, construction and development funding, property syndications, compliance and company directorships.

The directors have been actively involved in all types of construction and property lending for over 30 years with major financial institutions such as Westpac, Citibank, and St George.

They have funded billions of dollars' worth of property projects for most of the major developers in south east Queensland and they bring this expertise and knowledge to Guardian Securities.

2.2 Previous Investment Offers

Guardian Securities has successfully completed a number of contributory mortgage schemes detailed below where Investors have been paid their nominated interest as disclosed in the applicable offer document along with a return of their original capital investment.

Property Type	Mortgage Type	End Sale Price	Investor Return	LVR	Term
Residential units	1 st mortgage	\$ 10,800,000	10.0% pa	66%	12 months
Civils on land project	1st mortgage	\$ 2,500,000	9.5% pa	40%	6 months
Commercial complex	1st mortgage	\$ 4,080,000	10.0% pa	70%	12 months
Residential units	2 nd mortgage	\$ 16,900,000	20.0% pa	85%	12 months
Mixed use comm./residential	2 nd mortgage	\$ 7,600,000	20.0% pa	80%	12 months
Commercial offices	2 nd mortgage	\$ 23,300,000	14.0% pa	85%	24 months

Examples of completed projects funded by Guardian Securities include:

NB: Past performance is no indication of future performance or a return of principal or interest to Investors. Investors may lose part or all of their investment in property mortgage schemes due to a decline in real estate values or other risks associated with property construction and development.

As at the date of this PDS, there is one loan in default where there is a risk of partial loss of capital to the one investor in that loan. All other loans in the Fund are operating in terms of arrangements.

2.3 Investment Objectives

The investment objectives of the Manager, based on the investment policy set out below, are:

- > To provide a secure return to Investors.
- > To secure loans and investments by taking varying forms of security over the freehold property of the borrower.
- > To provide Investors with an income stream to offset the cost of funds invested, whilst offering them an opportunity to participate in income returns which reflect the risk and reward matrix.
- > To identify and monitor exit strategies for all loans approved by the Manager.

2.4 Investment And Lending Diversification

The Manager may approve loans that meet the Manager's lending criteria. The lending criteria do not limit the type or purpose of loans.

The Manager expects that loans may be advanced for and secured by:

- > Vacant land;
- Improved residential land;
- > Development and construction projects;
- > Completed commercial, industrial and retail property.

The lending manual does not restrict the location of the secured property but the loan portfolio does have a Queensland bias. Details of the secured property will be disclosed in the relevant Supplementary PDS.

2.5 Security of Investor Funds

Prior to advancing funds to a borrower, the Manager will undertake a due diligence on the project and the borrower to ensure that the criteria below (where applicable) is satisfied.

The Manager will only approve loans to borrowers for development projects if these conditions (as appropriate) are met:

A detailed loan	the use of funds required;	
proposal is provided	 proposed repayment schedule; 	
outlining:	 a detailed risk assessment of the project; 	
	 financial information on the borrower and guarantors; 	
	 information on the builder and their capacity to complete the project within time and budget; 	
	 sensitivity analysis on the project; 	
	 competition in the immediate area; 	
	 sales rate and price range of similar individual strata sales; 	
	 current status of sales and expressions of interest; 	
	background and experience of the developer;	
	 copies of council approvals and consents. 	
Receipt of an	An "as is" and "on completion" valuation;	
independent valuation	 comment on construction costs and timing; 	
report prepared by a reputable valuation firm	 comment on profit margins to ensure that the project can meet projected interest costs and fees; 	
addressing the following	 rate of sale of the individual strata title units; 	
information:	sale prices and rentals proposed for the project;	
	and a range of valuation methodologies.	
Execution of the	Loan agreement outlining the terms and conditions of the loan;	
following	 Registered mortgage(s) over the site and improvements; 	
documentation by the borrower/guarantor on	 Registered General Security Agreement over all assets and undertakings of the company borrower; 	
terms acceptable to the Manager:	 Deed of guarantee and indemnity from the principal director(s) of the borrower; 	
	If required, deed of priority from the 1st mortgagee limiting their debt to principal advanced plus outstanding interest and costs.	
Building Contract	If applicable, receipt of a guaranteed maximum price building contract	
(if applicable)	between the borrower and a reputable builder on terms acceptable t the Manager. A tripartite agreement will also be taken where required.	
Solicitor's certification	The Manager receives from a qualified solicitor a certificate confirming the enforceability of the loan documents. That solicitor must be independent of the borrower and practice in the jurisdiction in which the security property is located.	
Letter of Offer	If required, the borrower receives and accepts a formal Letter of Offer for the senior debt from a major bank or financial institution for an amount and on terms and conditions acceptable to the Manager.	

The Manager will only invest some or all of an Investor's Investment in a particular mortgage Investment, if that Investor applies to invest in that mortgage Investment on the Application Form accompanying the Supplementary PDS in respect of that mortgage Investment.

If a default under a mortgage Investment occurs, that default will only have an effect on the return to Investors who have invested in that mortgage Investment and not on any other Investor.

The Investments held in other mortgage Investments or on trust pending investment in a mortgage Investment are not available to make up any shortfall or loss on a defaulting mortgage Investment.

2.6 Lending Criteria

The salient issues that form the parameters set out in the lending manual include but are not limited to:

Experience and character of prospective borrower	The borrower must have successfully completed two projects in the last 5 years. Generally borrowers are well known to Guardian Securities directors from past associations.	Loan Application from prospective Borrower Is received
Minimum proofs and source documentation requirements	All loan documentation requested in the letter of offer to the borrower to be certified by an independent solicitor as enforceable and complete prior to loan drawdown. Minimum proofs should include a detailed feasibility analysis of the project, development approvals being acceptable to the Manager, acceptable building contract from a reputable builder, marketing plan, financial information on the borrower and directors, and background on the borrower including a list of other projects completed and under construction. Every property offered as security is inspected by a Guardian director before the loan is	Stringent Due Diligence Process on: Property Project Borrower Valuation Repayment ability Security
Relevant searches and bankruptcy proofs	drawn down as well as discussion of the project with local real estate agents. Where applicable, to include bankruptcy searches on the borrower and directors, credit reference checks, town planning searches, statutory searches, subdivisional approvals, survey and Development Approvals.	Board Approval prior to submitting offer to prospective Investors
Construction drawdowns	Normal constructing funding conditions such as receipt of independent engineers and/or quantity surveyors report confirming costs expensed and cost to complete project will be required before any construction loan advances are made direct to the contractor.	Mail out of Investment Offer to prospective Investors SPDS
Relevant presale requirements	Where considered necessary, all presales to be on at least 5% deposit to arm's length purchasers. Deposit bonds are acceptable and must be from reputable suppliers with at least a 6 month term beyond the proposed completion date of the project.	Receipt of Investor Funds
Loan to Value Ratios	For first mortgage construction and development funding, no more than 70% of gross realisation "as if complete" loan to value ratio.	
		Finalise legal

Finalise legal documents and transfer Funds to Borrower

Product Disclosure Statement 15 November 2013

	For all other first mortgage loans, no more than 80% of the current "as is" market value. For second mortgage or mezzanine funding, no more than 80% of gross realisation "as if complete" loan to value ratio.	
Security requirements	All first and second mortgage funding will be secured by registered mortgages over the property supported by guarantees of directors and fixed and floating charges over the borrower. Where required a deed of priority from the first mortgagee will also be held as well as caveats and other charges.	Receipt of Interest payments from Borrower
Loan and payment terms	Generally up to two (2) years with interest payable either monthly, quarterly or annually in arrears or upon completion of the Project. In the case of construction loans, the interest may be capitalised into the facility.	\$\$\$\$\$ Pay Interest to Investors
Panel of Valuers and quantity surveyors	Only those Valuers and quantity surveyors who are independent of the borrower, approved by the Manager, and having the necessary skills and qualifications to value the property will be accepted. Valuations cannot be older than ninety (90) days from the loan approval date and must include an analysis of valuation methods, such as discounted cash flows, direct comparison and capitalisation rates.	\$\$\$\$\$ Repayment of loan by Borrower from sale of
Insurance	 All property upon which funds are advanced will be insured with a licensed insurance company. The nature of the insurance cover will depend on whether the property is completed or under construction. If the property is completed - a fire and all risks policy will be obtained. If the property is under construction - a contractor's all risks policy will be obtained all risks policy on completion. 	\$\$\$\$\$ Repayment of Capital Investment to Investors



"Azzura Eco" 28 Castello Circuit, Varsity Lakes – GRV \$25,500,000 partly funded by Guardian Securities.

Product Disclosure Statement 15 November 2013

3. ROLE OF THE MANAGER

3.1 Duties of the Manager

In exercising its powers and carrying out its duties, the Manager must:

- \succ act honestly;
- exercise the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person would exercise if they were in the Manager's position;
- act in the best interests of the Investors and, if there is a conflict between the Investors' interests and the Manager's own interests, give priority to the Investors' interests;
- treat the Investors of the same class equally and Investors of different classes fairly;
- > ensure that the assets are:
 - clearly identified as assets; and
 - held separately from property of the Manager and the property of any other managed investments scheme;
 - all Scheme assets are to be registered with the Scheme's name and the Manager's name on behalf of the Scheme;
- receive all monies and deposit these into a designated bank account on the same or next business day of receipt by the Manager;
- the Compliance Officer is to supervise the separation of the assets of the Manager and the Scheme;
- arrange annual audit of the Scheme's assets within ninety (90) days of fiscal year end;
- ensure all original security loan documents are held by qualified solicitors appointed by the Manager.

3.2 Indemnity of the Manager

Subject to the Corporations Act, the Manager is indemnified out of the Scheme's assets for all debts, liabilities, damages, costs, taxes, charges, expenses and outgoings incurred by it in the proper performance of its functions and duties and exercising its powers under the Constitution or at law.

This indemnity does not apply to debts, liabilities, damages, costs, taxes, charges, expenses or outgoings incurred or payable in respect of or as a result of the negligence of, fraud of, or breach of trust by the Manager.

4. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

4.1 Overview

As Manager of the Scheme, Guardian Securities is required to manage the affairs of the Scheme in accordance with the Constitution and general fiduciary obligations applicable at law to persons acting in the capacity as Manager.

The Scheme is registered as a managed investment Scheme regulated by Chapter 5C of the Corporations Act. Guardian Securities and its Directors are committed to "best practice" in corporate governance and in providing full disclosure to Investors about these corporate governance practices.

4.2 Board of Directors of Guardian Securities

The Board of Guardian Securities Limited currently comprises a total of four Directors: Guy Hasenkam, Christopher Wilson & Gerry Ward. The Board sets the strategic direction of the Fund and has ultimate responsibility for the performance of the Fund. The Board seeks to create Investor value and ensure that Investors' investments in the Fund are prudently managed.

For more information about us please visit our website <u>www.guardiansecurities.com.au</u>

Guy Hasenkam – Managing Director

Guy has had many years' experience in banking, property syndication, equity raising, property development, funding, and company directorships. Guy was State Manager Property for Advance Bank (now St George) with a loan portfolio in excess of \$400M and 13 staff. He has had many years' experience in funding large scale property projects in southeastQueensland.

Guy is a Fellow of both the Australian Institute of Company Directors and the Financial Services Institute of Australasia and an Affiliate of the Financial Planning Association of Australia. He is also a member of the Urban Development Institute of Australia and is a licenced real estate salesperson.

Christopher Wilson - Director

Christopher has a bachelor of business (accounting & computing). He is an experienced financial management professional with in excess of twenty-five years' managerial and commercial experience in a wide range of disciplines. During his career Christopher has developed and implemented a number of managed investment schemes.

Christopher has been a director on multiple companies and has held position as general manager, compliance officer, finance director and financial controller, responsible manager for both AFS Licences and Credit Licences.

Gerald Ward - Director

Gerry has a diverse property background including being appointed as a commercial manager for Westpac with a loan book of approx. \$200M and eight staff. He has many years' experience in funding a wide range of property developments to major developers as well as completing his own projects.

Recently he was the owner and franchisee of Ray White Robina with annual sales over \$80M and a rent roll of over 200 properties. He is experienced in most types of real estate and is conversant with lending policy, compliance, financial analysis and management.

4.3 Key Person

Guy Hasenkam is appointed as the Key Person for the Responsible Entity under the AFS license issued to Guardian Securities by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.

The duties of a Key Person include implementation of the business plan determined by the board; oversee and coordinate due diligence investigations carried out internally along with any external due diligence advice; oversee development of capital raising documentation; oversee development and negotiation of securities documentation; liaise with the compliance officer; oversee, monitor and manage investments; facilitate regular investor reporting; develop and implement investment exit strategies.

4.4 Compliance Committee

A compliance committee has been appointed comprising of a majority of independent members as required under the Corporations Act. This committee has the role of overseeing the Manager's compliance with the Constitution, Compliance Plan and the Corporations Act.

The compliance committee is to review the performance of compliance staff and the appropriateness of the Compliance Plan (refer Section 8 Material Contracts).

4.5 Financial Statement and Compliance Audits

PKF (Gold Coast) have been appointed as Auditors of Guardian Securities and the Scheme in accordance with the Mortgage Fund's Constitution.

PKF (Gold Coast) are required to audit annual the financial report of the Manager, the Scheme and the Compliance Plan.

The audited financial report of the Scheme and Compliance Plan audit are required to be lodged with ASIC within ninety (90) days of fiscal year end.

4.6 Financial Ombudsman Service

Guardian Securities has been a member of the Financial Ombudsman Service since 2004.

If an Investor has a complaint about the performance of Guardian Securities, he/she is entitled to have his/her complaint dealt with in a proper and efficient manner. The Constitution and Compliance Plan details how complaints can be made and how Guardian Securities must deal with them. In addition the Regulatory Guide 165 details how disputes may be resolved between investors and the Manager.

Guardian Securities is required to appoint a complaints handling officer. The Australian Standard -Complaints Handling AS ISO 10002-2006 provides the format as to how complaints may be handled by an Investor and how it must be dealt with by Guardian Securities.

Complaints may be made to the Complaints Manager at the address shown in the Corporate Directory. Guardian Securities will respond to all complaints within two business days of receipt and a determination of the complaint must be dealt with by the Manager within 45 days of receipt of the complaint.

Failing that or if dissatisfied with the response provided by Guardian Securities, Investors may address their complaint to the ASIC approved external dispute resolution service at:

Financial Ombudsman Service,

GPO Box 3, MELBOURNE VIC 3001, Telephone: 1300 78 08 08 Email: <u>info@fos.org.au.</u>

5. COSTS AND FEES

The Corporations Regulations 2001 requires us to include the following standard consumer advisory warning. This warning is required to be inserted into all product disclosure statements and is not specific to this PDS.

Consumer Advisory Warning

Small differences in both investment performance and fees and costs can have a substantial impact on your long term returns.

For example, total annual fees and costs of 2% of your fund balance rather than 1% could reduce your final return by up to 20% over a 30 year period, (for example, reduce it from \$100,000 to \$80,000).

You should consider whether features such as superior investment performance or the provision of better member services justify higher fees and costs.

You may be able to negotiate to pay lower contribution fees and management costs where applicable. Ask the fund or your financial adviser.

TO FIND OUT MORE

If you would like to find out more, or see the impact of the fees based on your own circumstances, the Australian Securities and Investments Commission (ASIC) website (www.moneysmart.gov.au) has a managed investment fee calculator to help you check out different fee options.

5.1 Scheme Management Fees

The table below shows the fees which the Manager may charge in relation to a Mortgage Investment. Investors are encouraged to read all information about fees and charges, to understand their impact on an Investment in a mortgage Investment.

Such fees and other costs may be deducted from an Investment, from the returns on an Investment or from the Scheme assets as a whole. All fees shown are inclusive of GST where applicable.

Explanation of Fee	Amount	
Establishment Fee A fee payable to the Manager to open the Investment in the Scheme which is usually calculated as a percentage of the total Application Moneys and paid by the Investor.		
Contribution Fee A fee payable to the Manager for each amount being invested by the Investor.	Nil while this PDS is in force.	
Withdrawal Fee A fee payable to the Manager by the Investor on early repayment of the Investment and calculated as a percentage of the amount being withdrawn. (For example, on an early withdrawal of \$10,000 the Investor may be charged a withdrawal fee calculated at 1% amounting to \$100.)	 Nil – if that part of the Investment is not invested in a mortgage Investment. Up to 1.1% - if that part of the Investment is invested in a mortgage Investment. The Manager has sole discretion to determine whether an Investor may withdraw from the Scheme. 	
Transfer Fee A fee payable to the Manager by Investors for transferring invested funds between investment options.	Nil while this PDS is in force.	
Management Fees The fees for managing the Investment and related administration of the Scheme. The Manager is entitled to fees in respect of that part of an Investment invested in a mortgage Investment. (There is no management fee payable for managing any part of an Investment that is not invested in a mortgage Investment.)	The Supplementary PDS specifies the level of management fee payable represented by the difference between the interest payable by a borrower in respect of a mortgage Investment and the interest rate payable to Investors in that mortgage Investment.	

This fee is paid by a borrower of a mortgage Investment	The interest rate differential will not exceed 5.0% at the
and is paid to the Manager monthly after distributions for	lower rate of interest.
that month have been paid to Investors.	

5.2 Loan Management Fees and Costs

A borrower under a mortgage Investment will be required to pay certain fees and costs to the Manager in respect of that mortgage Investment. These fees and costs may include:

Explanation of Fee / Cost	Amount
Loan Establishment Fee A fee payable to the Manager to establish the loan. Such fees are generally calculated as a percentage of the total Loan value and paid by the Borrower.	Up to 4.4% inc. GST of the loan value payable on approval of the Loan by the Manager and acceptance by the Borrower. Introduction fees and other costs are payable by the Manager out of proceeds from fees received from the Borrower.
Loan Management Fee	
A fee payable to the Manager by the Borrower for the general administration and management of the loan. Such fees are generally calculated as a percentage of the total loan amount.	Up to 1.1% inc. GST of the loan value payable on approval of the loan by the Manager and acceptance by the Borrower.
Early Repayment Fee	An early repayment fee may be payable by the
A fee payable by the Borrower if a loan is fully repaid prior to loan maturity.	Borrower and will be retained by the Manager. Generally this will not exceed two (2) months interest at the lower rate.
Adviser Fee and Commissions	The Fee amount is subject to negotiation and payable
A fee or commission payable to advisers or parties who introduce Investors to the Scheme.	by the Manager out of its Loan Establishment Fee at settlement of the loan.
Expense Recoveries	The Borrower is required to reimburse the Manager for
Expenses related to the arrangement of the loan including but not limited to valuation costs, legal fees, searches and other professional charges.	any costs related to the arrangement of the loan. The Manager is also entitled to recover from the assets of the Scheme any costs or expenses incurred in meeting its obligations as the Manager of the Scheme.
Interest	
Loans to Borrowers will be at a rate of interest (not exceeding 5.0%) above the interest rate paid to Investors. The difference between the amount the Manager receives in interest payments on a loan from a Borrower and the interest payments payable to Investors is applied to payment of Management Fees.	On a loan of \$100,000 the interest differential may be up to \$5,000 per annum.
Default Interest	
Each loan is structured so that the borrower must pay a higher interest rate on the loan and when they comply with the terms of the loan a lower interest rate will apply. Generally the difference between the higher rate of interest and the lower rate of interest is 5% per annum.	If the borrower is in default the higher rate of interest will apply. On a loan of \$100,000, the higher interest charge will be \$5,000 per annum. The default interest charge is payable to the Manager to offset increased administration and recovery costs.
Costs of the Scheme	
The Manager will pay all costs associated with the administration of the Scheme including but not limited to audit costs, compliance committee costs, legal fees, printing and marketing costs, advertising and general operating expenses.	The Manager pays these costs from the management fees it receives from the borrower. The Manager does not separately charge these fees and costs to Investors.
Removal as Responsible Entity of the Scheme	
Costs associated with replacing the existing Responsible Entity with a new Responsible Entity	Under the Constitution, the existing Responsible Entity is entitled to a fee equal to 2.0% of the total value of the loans under management at the time of its removal as the Responsible Entity.

5.3 Example of Annual Fees and Costs

The table below provides an example of how fees and costs of the Scheme can affect an Investment in this Scheme over a one (1) year period. Investors are recommended to use this table to compare this product with other managed investment products.

Example	Fee	Balance of \$50,000 with a contribution of \$5,000 during the year.
Contribution fees	Nil	For every additional \$5,000 an investor is charged \$0.
+ Management Fees	Up to 5.00 % per annum	For every \$50,000 of investment into this Scheme an investor will be charged \$2,500 per annum.*
= Cost of Scheme		Assuming an investor invests \$50,000 at the beginning of the year and added another \$5,000 during that year, the fees charged on the total investment may amount up to \$2,500.*

* This amount is not deducted from the Investment or the return. It represents the interest rate differential between the interest rate charged to the borrower and the interest rate payable to an Investor. The interest rate differential applicable to a particular mortgage Investment will be specified in the Supplementary PDS applicable to that mortgage Investment.



6. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As at the date of this PDS, Guardian Securities meet the net tangible asset requirements stipulated by ASIC for licences of this type.

A full copy of our financial statements for the financial year ending 30 June 2013 has been lodged with ASIC. Copies of the latest audited accounts are available on request from the Manager.

These accounts are audited on an annual basis and copies of these statements are available for Investors on request by contacting Guardian Securities on **1800 60 11 77** during normal business hours.



7. RISK FACTORS

7.1 Overview

This section of the Product Disclosure Statement identifies the areas that are believed by Guardian Securities to be some of the major risks associated with an Investment in the Scheme. The success of the Project is subject to risk factors, both specific to the activities of Guardian Securities and of a general nature.

Individually, or in combination, these might affect the future operating performance of the Scheme and the value of an Investment in a Scheme.

There can be no guarantee that Guardian Securities will achieve the stated objectives or that any forward-looking statements or forecasts will eventuate.

An Investment should be considered in light of relevant risks, both general and specific. Such risks, if they eventuate, may have a material adverse impact on the Scheme's operating performance and profits and its ability to meet commitments to Investors.

Before deciding to invest in the Scheme, potential Investors should:

- read this entire Product Disclosure Statement and any Supplementary Product Disclosure Statement;
- consider the assumptions underlying the financial forecasts and the risk factors that could affect the financial performance of the Scheme;
- > review these factors in light of each Investor's personal circumstances; and
- > consider seeking professional advice from their accountant, lawyer and/or other professional advisor before deciding whether to Invest.

7.2 Risk Types and Mitigating Factors

Risk	Mitigating factor
General and Market Risks There are a number of risk factors outside the control of the Manager which may impact on an Investment in the Scheme, including a downturn in the real estate market, changes in taxation law, increases in interest rates, changes to legislation and government fiscal monetary regulations, domestic and global economic conditions. Any change in property market sentiment during the construction of a project may affect the price and the rate of sales which can be achieved. Any change in these factors may affect the value of the security property, profitability of a development or ability of a borrower to repay a loan.	Research by Guardian Securities into the specific area of property development has ascertained that there is sufficient demand for the development and the reasonableness of the sales rates assumed in the project cost feasibility.
Loan Default Risk The primary risk to any mortgage Investment is the default by the borrower under its loan conditions. The borrower may default for a number of reasons including changes in its financial or personal circumstances, changes in the general state of the Australian or international economy, fluctuating business and economic conditions and changes to the Australian property market.	 The Manager relies primarily on the value of the underlying security to secure a mortgage Investment. This risk is minimised by the following mitigating factors: Prudent assessment of the loan application and the borrower's financial capacity to repay; Receipt of a comprehensive valuation report chosen from a panel of Valuers approved by the Board;

Risk	Mitigating factor
 The borrower's ability to comply with loan conditions will depend on the success of the relevant project. If the Borrower defaults under the Facility and Guardian Securities are required to exercise its power of sale under the mortgage, interest payments and return of capital to investors may be delayed or lost partially or totally. In the event that Guardian Securities exercises its powers under the mortgage, priority repayment from sales proceeds (after GST and selling costs) will be in the order of: Legal and recovery costs incurred by Guardian Securities; Payment of Investor capital; Payment of Investor interest at the lower interest rate; and Payment of interest to Guardian Securities at the 	 Guarantees from the principal director and/or shareholder of the borrower; Legal signoff regarding enforceability of loan documents; Construction loan drawdowns on a cost to complete basis. Each loan will be assessed on its merits by the Manager and the Manager's assessment of the Borrower's capacity to repay an approved loan will be outlined in the relevant Supplementary PDS.
higher rate of interest.	
Valuation Risk As with any loan that is secured against property, the valuation provided to the lender may not accurately reflect the true value of the security property at the time the valuation is undertaken. This becomes a risk if the borrower defaults or there is a fall in the value of the security property. Should this occur during the term of a mortgage Investment, this may diminish the amount of principal and outstanding interest that can be repaid to Investors.	Utilising only those Valuers approved by the Board who are independent of the Manager and who have the necessary qualifications to value the security property. Utilising the combined experience of the Directors of the Manager to assess the loan proposal and reviewing the valuation report. Taking additional security and guarantees to support the loan proposal. Careful monitoring of all construction loan drawdowns including reports from quantity surveyors or construction cost managers. Ensuring that the valuation report is not older than ninety (90) days from the approval date of the loan
	and a fresh valuation is obtained for all loans in excess of two (2) years or the loan is in default.
Building Risk and Cost Overruns	
If a mortgage Investment comprises a construction loan, there are specific risks. Construction loans can meet unexpected cost overruns or variations which impact on the viability of the project and may cause increased debt funding for the developer and lenders.	A guaranteed maximum price building contract from well-known and respected builders who have experience in the type of proposed construction to be executed between the builder and borrower. Any variations to the building contract will require the prior approval of the borrower.
	That the project is employing standard construction techniques and that adequate building insurance cover is in place.
	Ongoing review of building costs by the Manager or its appointed quantity surveyor/project manager to ensure that industry standards are observed and adhered to.
	The Directors of the Manager will closely monitor all construction loan drawdowns to ensure that there are always sufficient funds remaining from lenders to complete the development.

	An independent quantity surveyor or construction cost manager will be appointed by the lender(s) prior to the commencement of the project.
	The Manager will verify that there are sufficient funds available to complete the project and to verify the completion of each stage of construction prior to the drawdown of funds. A contingency factor on total construction costs are also factored into the debt funding by the borrower for each project.
Withdrawal Risk	
In the event that the borrower is unable to complete the project the invested funds were applied to or is unable to refinance or sell the subject property within the timeline	All loans, borrowers and projects are monitored closely and Investors are advised of any changes in the status of the loan conditions.
of the loan term and as a result the borrower requires a loan extension or loan rollover to finalise the transaction and such an extension is granted; then any Investor funds allocated to the subject property may not be available for withdrawal by layertar, an example	Loan extensions or rollovers are only granted where the borrower has complied with all loan conditions and is able to meet ongoing interest payments as stipulated in the loan conditions.
for withdrawal by Investors on completion of the original loan term as stated in the SPDS, unless a replacement investor can be found.	The Manager will use its best endeavours to source replacement Investors in the event that existing investors require repayment of their Investment.
Insurance Risk	
If a property or project is not fully or adequately insured the Investors may suffer significant loss.	All property upon which funds are advanced will be insured with a licensed insurance company. The nature of the insurance cover will depend on whether the property is completed or under construction.
	If the property is completed a fire and all risks policy will be obtained.
	If the property is under construction a contractors all risks policy will be affected converting to a fire and all risks policy on completion.
Related party risk	It is a strict policy of the Manager that no loans will be
That some loans are made from the Scheme to related parties of the Manager.	advanced from the Scheme to related parties of the Manager, its directors or associated companies of the Manager as defined in the Corporations Act.
	Loans will only be made to third party borrowers who meet the strict lending criteria of the Manager.
Taxation Risk	
Australian taxation laws are subject to change in line with government fiscal policy. Introduction of new taxation laws may impact on individual Investor's taxation liability. These liabilities are the responsibility of each individual	Regardless of any changes to Government policy, Guardian Securities does not consider that the Scheme will be affected to any greater extent than any other similar managed investment scheme.
Investor and Guardian Securities is not responsible either for tax charges or penalties incurred by Investors. Investors should obtain their own taxation advice in regard to their Investment in the Scheme.	A Supplementary PDS will contain details of the risks that the Manager considers are relevant to the mortgage Investment to which that Supplementary PDS applies.
The list of risk factors in this section of the Product I	

The list of risk factors in this section of the Product Disclosure Statement is not complete. Intending Investors should consult with their own professional advisers before deciding whether to invest in the Scheme. Additional risks may be disclosed in the Supplementary PDS relevant to that particular Investment.

8. TAXATION AND OTHER MATTERS

8.1 Taxation and Other Matters

The policy of the Manager is to distribute all net taxable income (after payment of management fees and other costs owing to the Manager) of the Scheme to Investors. Under the current income tax legislation the Scheme operates as a flow though vehicle such that any distributions to Investors are treated as income in the hands of the Investor. Generally if you are subject to Australian income taxation legislation, distributions paid to you will be taxed at your marginal rate and should be included in your taxation return.

The Manager will provide Investors with a Tax Statement within ninety (90) days of fiscal year end showing the Distributions received during the previous financial year. You should not complete your taxation return until you receive your statement.

The Manager is not an expert in taxation matters and Investors should consult their accountant or taxation adviser if they have any questions relating to their own particular circumstances.

8.2 Your Tax File Number

On the Application Form we have requested provision of your Tax File Number (TFN). However, it is not an offence to fail to provide a TFN. Whilst, quoting your TFN is not compulsory, Australian tax law requires that we withhold an amount of tax from some payments made to Investors where some or all of the payment is income unless you provide us with either:

- (a) a Tax File Number (TFN) (or if you are exempt from providing a TFN you may provide your Exemption Number);
- (b) an Australian Business Number (ABN). (an Investor is only able to quote its ABN if the Investment is made in the course or furtherance of an enterprise carried on by the Investor).

If an Investor does not supply a TFN, an Exemption Number or an ABN, we are required by tax law to withhold from any income distributions to that Investor an amount equal to the highest marginal tax rate plus the Medicare levy.

Please note, Investor Tax File Numbers or Exemptions will only be used for tax-related purposes in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and Taxation Administration Act 1974. It is not an offence to decline providing a Tax File Number or Exemption number.

Guardian Securities will protect the confidentiality of information in relation to your Tax File or Exemption number. Access to Investor Tax File Numbers or Exemptions is restricted to employees or agents of Guardian Securities who require them for legitimate purposes. Investor Tax File Numbers or Exemptions will be securely disposed of when no longer required for administrative or legal purposes.

8.3 Conflict of interest

Where there is a conflict of interest for a member of the Board or senior management or the potential for a perception of a conflict of interest, the Director or manager concerned will not participate in the investment decision.

8.4. Labour standards, social, environmental and ethical considerations

While the Manager intends to conduct its affairs in an ethical and sound manner, labour standards, social and ethical considerations are not expressly taken into account when selecting retaining or realising an Investment in the Scheme.

8.5 Accounts and Audit

The Manager must keep proper books of accounts for the Scheme to enable true and accurate accounts of the Scheme to be kept and audited by the nominated auditor.

9. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

9.1 Overview

Guardian Securities considers that certain agreements relating to the Scheme are significant to Investors. These documents include:

- (a) the Constitution of the Scheme;
- (b) the Compliance Plan;
- (c) this PDS

Each of these agreements are summarised below. Complete copies of the Constitution and Compliance Plan will be made available to Investors on request.

9.2 Constitution

The Scheme is governed by its Constitution. The Constitution for the Scheme is a legal contract between Guardian Securities as Manager of the Scheme (or any succeeding manager of the Scheme) and each Investor.

The Constitution is available for inspection at the offices of Guardian Securities. Alternatively, a copy of the Constitution can be made available to you, free of charge, upon request.

The following is an outline of the main terms of the Constitution, apart from those provisions which are disclosed elsewhere in this Product Disclosure Statement. Capitalised terms in this section, not defined in the Glossary, have the same meaning as in the Constitution.

Commencement Date	The Scheme was established by a trust deed executed by Guardian Securities as a deed poll on 12 May 2005 and as amended from time to time. A replacement Constitution was lodged with ASIC on 31 October 2008.		
Duration of Scheme	80 years or until wound up by the Manager.		
Assets of the Scheme	The Manager declares that it holds and will at all times hold assets on trust for Investors of the Scheme subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Constitution.		
Constitution is binding on the parties	The Constitution operates as a deed and is binding on the Manager and each Investor and all persons claiming through them as if they were parties to this Constitution, and each Applicant by signing the Application, acknowledges being so bound.		
Interest of Investors	The Manager holds the Investor's funds of each Investor on separate trust for that Investor.		
Exercise of powers of the Manager	The Manager has extensive powers to manage and deal with the Scheme's assets as if the Manager was the owner of those assets.		
Role of the Manager	Please refer to Section 3 on Page 19 for more detail.		
Retirement, removal or liquidation of the Responsible Entity	 The Constitution outlines the manner in which: The Manager may retire; The Investors may remove the Manager; The consequences of a change in the Manager; The winding up of the Scheme. 		
Indemnity	Subject to the Corporations Act, the Manager is indemnified out of the Scheme's assets for all debts, liabilities, damages, costs, taxes, charges, expenses and outgoings incurred by it in the proper performance of its functions and duties and exercising its powers under the Constitution or at law.		

	This indemnity does not apply to debts, liabilities, damages, costs, taxes, charges, expenses or outgoings incurred or payable in respect of or as a result of the negligence of, fraud of, or breach of trust by the Manager.		
Liabilities of Investors	The liability of Investors is limited to their Investment in the Scheme.		
General rights of Investors	The Constitution otherwise includes provisions dealing with the general rights of Investors in the Scheme and the rights of Investors to receive notice, attend and vote at meetings of Investors.		
	The Constitution does not, other than subject to the Act prevent Guardian Securities (or any succeeding Manager of the Scheme) from:—		
Interested dealings by the Manager	(a) being interested in any contract or transaction with itself (as Manager of the Scheme or in another capacity) or as Investor, including any contract or transaction involving the sale of property by the Scheme or the purchase of property by the Scheme,		
	(b) acting in the same or similar capacity in relation to any other managed investment Scheme; or		
	(c) holding Interests in the Scheme in any capacity.		

9.3 The Compliance Plan

The Compliance Plan is the document that outlines the principles and procedures the Manager will follow to ensure it complies in all respects with the provisions of the Corporations Act, ASIC policies and the Constitution.

The Compliance Plan is available for inspection at the offices of Guardian Securities. Alternatively, a copy of the Compliance Plan can be made available to you, free of charge, upon request.

The Compliance Plan deals with a wide range of issues including, but not limited to, the following:

- > The establishment of an independent compliance committee;
- > The appointment of an auditor for the Scheme to audit the Scheme on behalf of the Investors;
- > The appointment of an auditor for the Manager and the Compliance Plan;
- Having a documented dispute resolution process in place, including being a member of an external dispute resolution service approved by ASIC;
- The Manager maintains adequate records and systems including the acceptance of Applications, income distribution, accounting, record keeping, monitoring external service providers and risk management.

The Manager has appointed a compliance committee comprised of a majority of independent members as required under the Corporations Act. This committee has the role of overseeing the Manager's compliance with the Constitution, Compliance Plan and the Corporations Act.

9.4 Documents Available for Inspection

Copies of the following documents are available for inspection during normal office hours at the registered office of the Manager:

- (a) Constitution;
- (b) Compliance plan;
- (c) Pro-forma letters of offer;
- (d) Auditor's report on the compliance plan;
- (e) Most recent financial statement of the Manager; and
- (f) Most recent financial statements for the Scheme.

10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

10.1 Consents

The following parties have provided their written consents to being named in this Product Disclosure Statement:

GRT Lawyers has given its written consent to being named in this Product Disclosure Statement as lawyers for the Manager in the form and context in which it is named and has not withdrawn that consent prior to the date of issue of this Product Disclosure Statement. GRT Lawyers has not made any statement in this Product Disclosure Statement or provided any advice to the Manager on its content. GRT Lawyers has not caused or authorised the issue of this PDS.

PKF Chartered Accountants has given its written consent to being named in this PDS in the form and context in which it is named and has not withdrawn that consent prior to issue of this PDS. PKF takes no responsibility for any statement or financial information in this PDS. PKF has not caused or authorised the issue of this PDS.

10.2 Privacy Policy

Guardian's Privacy Policy sets out the policies on management of personal information. Please contact us if you would like information about, or a copy of, our Privacy Policy.

In completing the Application Form to invest in the Scheme, you are requested to provide your personal information including contact details (name, address and Phone numbers), which is required to effect your Investment.

You may choose not to provide your tax file number, the consequences of which are described in Section 8 of this Product Disclosure Statement entitled: Taxation and Other Matters.

We use your personal information to establish and manage the Investment for you. We may also use such information to forward to you, from time to time, details of other investment opportunities or promotions available from the Manager or any member of the group. However, you may request that no information of that nature be sent to you. In this case an appropriate notation will be made in your investment records.

Under Australia's National Privacy Principles, you may access personal information about you (except in limited circumstances). This will enable you to ensure that the information held by us is accurate, complete and up-to-date.

Under various superannuation and tax laws we may be obliged to pass certain information on to other organisations such as the Australian Taxation Office.

To find out more about your rights and remedies of breaches of privacy, you can visit the Privacy Commissioner's web site at <u>www.privacy.gov.au</u> or contract the Privacy Commissioner's hotline on 1300 363 992.

10.3 Goods and Services Tax

Goods and Services Tax (GST) is not directly applicable to your Investment in the Scheme. The Scheme may incur GST in respect of various expenses and the Scheme may not be entitled to input tax credits with respect to all the GST the Scheme incurs.

Taxation law is constantly under review and changing. The comments above are accurate at the date of this Product Disclosure Statement. Tax law is complex and each Investor's circumstances are different.

Guardian Securities recommends all Investors seek professional independent taxation advice on their Investment.

10.4 Overseas Investors

If an Investor is not an Australian resident for taxation purposes, the Investor must (when completing the Application Form) provide their overseas address. Where an overseas address is provided, withholding tax at the current applicable levels must be deducted by Guardian Securities from all Distributions.

10.5 Distribution Account Details

Distributions will be paid to you by direct electronic transfer to your bank account. Please ensure that the bank and account details you provide to us on your Application Form are correct.

Your BSB Number is a six digit number which identifies your financial institution and branch. If unsure, please contact your financial institution to confirm the correct number.

10.6 Correspondence

All correspondence will only be addressed to the person and address stated on the Application Form. For joint applicants, please specify the applicant and relevant postal address you would like all correspondence to be mailed to.

10.7 Interests Requiring Disclosure

GSL Services Pty Ltd (ACN 124 411 329) provides services to the Scheme for which it receives fees on normal commercial terms. One of the Directors has a beneficial interest in this company and may benefit from any fees received from the Scheme.

One of the directors has a beneficial interest in Guardian Securities and will benefit from any fees derived by it. These fees are payable by the Manager from the fees disclosed in section 5 and are not separately recoverable.

10.8 Directors Authorisation

Each of the Directors has consented to and authorise the issue of this PDS.



15 Rutland Street Coorparoo Qld - construction of 5 townhouses

11. DEFINITIONS & GLOSSARY

When reading this Product Disclosure Statement terms shown below have the following meanings:

Act or Corporations Act	The Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) for the time being in force together with any corresponding regulations made under the Corporations Act.	
AFS Licence	An Australian Financial Services Licence issued by ASIC under Part 7.6 of the Act.	
Applicant	A person who has completed and lodged with Guardian Securities an Application Form included in or accompanied by this Product Disclosure Statement and has paid the Application Money for Interests in the Scheme.	
Application Form	A duly completed and signed Application Form to invest in the Scheme which accompanies this Product Disclosure Statement, lodged with the Manager and accompanied by payment of the Application Money.	
Application Money	All money paid by the Applicant pursuant to this Product Disclosure Statement, accepted by the Manager and held by the Manager in an application account.	
Approved Valuer	Any independent valuer appointed by the Manager to value property.	
ASIC	Australian Securities & Investments Commission.	
Auditor	The auditor of the Scheme, appointed by the Manager.	
ATO	The Australian Taxation Office, the Australian Federal Government's principal revenue collection agency.	
Business Day	A day on which banks are open for business on the Gold Coast, except a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday.	
Directors	The directors of the Manager.	
Constitution	The Deed Poll executed by the Manager on 12 May 2005 establishing the Scheme and governing the relationship between the Manager and Investors (as amended from time to time in accordance with its terms).	
Distribution	The payment of capital and/or income entitlements to Investors.	
Guardian Securities	Guardian Securities Limited ACN 106 187 731 (including "we", "us" or "our").	
Income Distributions	The distributions of income to Investors made in accordance with the Scheme Constitution AIFRS and relevant accounting standards.	
Product Disclosure Statement	This Product Disclosure Statement or any supplementary or replacement Product Disclosure Statement or other disclosure document as defined in the Act, issued by Guardian Securities in relation to the proposed issue of interests in the Scheme.	
Investment	Means an Investor's interest in the Scheme.	
Investment Term	The term or duration of the Investment as disclosed in the Supplementary PDS.	
Investor, you or your	A person or entity whose application to join the Scheme is successful and who is issued Interests in the Scheme.	
Manager	The Responsible Entity of the Scheme which as at the date of this PDS is Guardian Securities Limited ACN 106 187 731 and includes any other person appointed as replacement Manager during the term of the Scheme.	
Minimum Investment	The minimum investment is A\$10,000. Guardian Securities may accept lesser amounts at its sole discretion.	
Offer	The offer under this Product Disclosure Statement to acquire Interests in the Scheme	
Scheme	Master Mortgage Fund No 6 ARSN 114 364 886	
TFN	A Tax File Number issued to an individual by the ATO.	

12. HOW TO INVEST IN THIS SCHEME

For new Investors in Master Mortgage Fund No 6:

- Read this PDS in full for Master Mortgage Fund No 6 ARSN 114 364 886;
- Complete the Application Form attached to this PDS including any identification required;
- Send the Application Form attached to this PDS together with any identification required and a cheque for your investment to our mailing address at:

Guardian Securities Limited Suite 7 211 Ron Penhaligon Way ROBINA QLD 4226

> Contact us on Toll Free on **1800 60 11 77** if you wish to discuss this PDS.

When you decide to invest in the Scheme we will deposit your investment funds into an interest bearing trust account until Investors nominate which investment they wish to allocate their funds.

Any interest earned on this bank account deposit will be paid to you (less any bank fees) pending drawdown of the applicable loan by the borrower.

A Supplementary PDS will then be provided to potential investors by Guardian Securities which will set out the details of a particular loan. Investors may then decide which loan they wish to invest in and should follow the instructions set out in that SPDS.

Manager & Responsible Entity



Guardian Securities Limited

ABN 47 106 187 731 AFSL 240506

Fund Managers of Mortgage and Property Trusts

Queensland Office: Suite 7 211 Ron Penhaligon Way Robina QLD 4226
 Mailing Address: PO Box 170 Robina Qld 4226
 T 07 5562 0888 - F 07 5562 0959 Toll Free 1800 601 177
 W guardiansecurities.com.au

GUIDE TO COMPLETING THE APPLICATION FORM

The Interests being applied for are interests in a managed investment scheme Master Mortgage Fund No 6 (MMF 6) ARSN 114 364 886 (Scheme). The Product Disclosure Statement (PDS) dated 15 November 2013 which relates to the Scheme is issued by the Responsible Entity Guardian Securities Limited ACN 106 187 731 AFSL No 240506.

This Application Form is included in the PDS for Master Mortgage Fund No 6 and contains important information about investing in the Scheme. You should read in full the PDS for Master Fund No 6 ARSN 114 364 886 dated 15 November 2013 and any Supplementary PDS before applying for interests in the Scheme.

The Australian Securities and Investment Commission require that a person who provides access to an electronic Application Form must provide access by the same means and at the same time, to the relevant PDS and SPDS.

If you are in doubt as to how to deal with this Application Form, please contact your accountant, lawyer, stockbroker or other professional adviser or by contacting the Responsible Entity on 1800 60 11 77.

This completed Application Form together with details of the amount you wish to invest in the Scheme (either by cheque or electronic transfer) and the required Identification should be forwarded to us at:

Guardian Securities Limited

Suite 7

211 Ron Penhaligon Way

Robina Qld 4226

Instructions for Completing the Application Form

Please complete all relevant sections of the Application Form in **BLOCK LETTERS** using blue or black ink.

Only legal entities are allowed to invest in the Scheme. Applications must be in the name(s) of natural persons, companies or other legal entities acceptable to the Responsible Entity.

Type of Applicant	Correct	Incorrect	Signatures required
Individual	Fred John Jones	F.J. Jones	Each Applicant
Company	ABC Pty Ltd	ABC P/L ABC Co	Two Directors, a Director and Secretary, or single Director if a sole Director company
Minor	Fred John Jones <bill Jones></bill 	F.J. Jones	Each Applicant (not a minor)
Trusts	Jane Jones <jane Jones Family Trust> OR XYZ Pty Ltd <xyz family="" trust<br="">A/C></xyz></jane 	Jane Jones Family Trust OR XYZ Trust	Each Trustee
Deceased Estates	Patrick Jones <est. fred<br="">Jones A/C></est.>	Estate of the Late Ared Jones	Each Executor
Clubs	Fred Jones and Patrick	ABC Golf Association	Each authorised person
Incorporated Bodies Business Names	Jones <jones brothers<br="">A/C></jones>		
Superannuation Funds	Fred Jones Pty Ltd <super Fund A/C></super 	Fred Jones Pty Ltd Superannuation Fund	Each Trustee of the SMSF

Contact Details

Enter your street address – either the residential for natural persons or the registered office for companies. Post office boxes are not acceptable. Company and super fund/trust investors should provide a contact name. Company investors will also need to provide their principal place of business (if it is different from the registered office).

All communications to Investors from the Responsible Entity will be mailed to the person(s) and address as shown. For joint Applicants, only one address can be entered.

Confidentiality of information

Guardian will not collect any personal information about you unless you provide it to us voluntarily. When you do provide us with personally identifiable information, we will only use that information to contact you regarding matters which we think you may be interested in.

These details including your email address will not be disclosed to a third party (unless we are legally required to do so) without your written permission.

While we will take every precaution to ensure the confidentiality of all personal information provided to us, we accept no responsibility for any unauthorised access to or dissemination of this information.

Tax File Numbers

Providing Applicants' Tax File Number to the Responsible Entity is not compulsory but tax may be withheld from any distribution at the highest marginal rate if a Tax File Number or Exemption number is not provided.

Applicants' Tax File Numbers or Exemption numbers will only be used for tax-related purposes in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and Tax Administration Act 1974. It is not an offence to decline to provide a Tax File Number or Exemption number. The collection of Tax File Numbers and Exemption numbers is authorised by taxation legislation.

The Responsible Entity will store all Tax File Numbers and Exemption numbers securely. Access to Investor Tax File Numbers or Exemption numbers is restricted to employees or agents of the Responsible Entity. Investor Tax File Numbers or Exemption numbers will be securely disposed of when no longer required for administrative or legal purposes.

Application for Interests

Applicants will need to state the dollar amount they intend investing in the Scheme.

Applicants need to attach a cheque made payable to "Guardian Securities Limited – MMF 6 Application Account" or transfer funds electronically to:

Bank Name	St George Bank Brisbane
Account Name	Guardian Securities Limited – MMF 6 Applications Account
B/S/B	334-025
Account No.	5528 08577
Reference	Investor name

Applicants must note the cheque details on the Application Form when attaching to the Application Form.

Bank Details

Applicants will need to provide bank details on the Application Form to the Responsible Entity for payment of distributions or interest as they become payable.

Proof of Identity

The Australian Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorism Financing Act 2006 (AML/CTF Act) requires issuers of interests in investment schemes to collect and verify identification information for new investors. These identification obligations apply to the Responsible Entity as the issuer of the Scheme.

You must attach certified copies of your identification documents to your Application Form. Please refer to the information sheets accompanying the Application Form to see what you must provide if you are an individual, a company or a Superannuation Fund or Trust and how it must be certified. Please note that if the Investor is a Superannuation Fund or Trust, identification documents will be required for both the Fund and Trust AND one of the trustees.

The Responsible Entity may be required to disclose personal information to AUSTRAC as the regulator of the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter Terrorism Financing legislation in Australia.

Investor Identification Information Form

If you are investing as:	Documentation required²: (to accompany return of this completed Application Form)	Application must be in the name of:	Complete Application Form sections: (names are used as examples only)
Individual/s	 A certified¹ copy of <u>one</u> of the following for <u>each</u> applicant: (a) passport; (b) driver's licence; or (c) any other form of photographic identification advised by the Responsible Entity as required. 	Full name of Applicant(s) (Unless indicated otherwise, multiple applicants are assumed to apply to hold interests as joint tenants and agree that correspondence be sent only to address specified for first named applicant.)	'Mary Citizen' and 'John Sample Citizen'
A company	Certified ¹ copy of the Certificate of Registration	The name of the company	'ABC Company Pty Ltd'
A trust	 Certified¹ copy of an extract³ of the trust deed. The extract should include the pages which show the: (a) name of the trust; (b) trustee(s) name(s); and (c) trustee's signature(s) with witness signatures. For corporate trustees a certified copy of the trustee's Certificate of Registration will also be required. 	The trustees of the trust ⁴	Natural person(s) as trustee(s) Mary Citizen and John Sample Citizen <as for="" the<br="" trustee="">Citizen Family Trust> Corporation(s) as trustee(s) XYZ Company Pty Ltd <as trustee for the Citizen Family Trust></as </as>
A superannuation fund	Certified ¹ copy of an extract ³ of the trust deed. The extract should include the pages which show the: (a) name of the trust; (b) trustee's name(s); and (c) trustee's signature(s) with witness signatures. For corporate trustees a certified copy of the trustee's Certificate of Registration will also be required.	The trustees of the superannuation fund ⁴	Natural person(s) as trustee(s) Mary Citizen and John Sample <as citizen<br="" of="" the="" trustee="">Superannuation Scheme> Companies XYZ Citizen Pty Ltd <as trustee<br="">for the Citizen Pty Ltd Superannuation Scheme></as></as>
A partnership	Certified ¹ copy of Partnership Agreement or Certificate of Partnership Registration or Business Name Certificate	The principals of the partnership	Mary Citizen and John Sample Citizen as partners of Sample & Associates

1. A certified copy which is certified as being a true and accurate copy of the original by an Australian Justice of the Peace, a lawyer, police officer, judge, notary public, accountant, Authorised Representative of an AFSL, permanent employee of Australia Post or a medical doctor. Do not send original documents. Certified copies will not be returned to you.

2. Additional documentation may be required in some circumstances.

3. Please do not send us a full trust deed. Only an extract of the deed identifying the trustee(s), the trust name, and the date of execution of deed is required.

4. Applications in the name of a trust, rather than a trustee will not be accepted.

APPLICATION FORM

Issued by Guardian Securities Limited ACN 106 187 731 AFSL No 240506.

FOR INTERESTS IN MASTER MORTGAGE FUND NO 6 ARSN 114 364 886 SCHEME

PRODUCT DISCLOSURE STATEMENT DATED 15 November 2013

Application Form for Master Mortgage Fund No 6 Scheme

I / we wish to apply for interests in the Master Mortgage Fund No 6 Scheme ARSN 114 364 886 and hereby agree to be bound by its Constitution.

1. Type of Investor

Are you applying as:				
Individual Investor (go to Section 2)		A Trust (go to Se	ection	3)
Joint Investors (go to Section 2)	A Company (go to Section 3)			
Partnership (go to Section 2)	Х	Self-Managed Superannuation Fund		
		(SMSF) as (see below)		
		Individual x Corporate Trustee Trustee		Corporate Trustee
		go to Section 2	go to Section 3	

2. Individual or Individual Trustee of a Trust or Superannuation Fund

Applicant 1	Individual	Joint-2	Partnership	Trustee
Surname (Mr, Mr	s, Ms)			
First Names				
Date of Birth			Tax File Number	
Contact Deta	ails (Street Address and a phone num	nber must be sup	plied as a minimum)	
Street Address				
	State		Post Code	
	Country			
Phone Number			Mobile Number	
Email Address				
Postal Address				
Notices and correspondence will be sent to the postal address if provided or the street address if a postal address is not provided.				

Application Form (continued)								
Applicant 2	Individu	al 🗆	Joint-2		Partnership		Trustee	
Surname (Mr, Mrs, Ms	s)							
First Names								
Date of Birth					Tax File Number			
Contact Details	(Street Address and a	a phone nun	nber must be	e supp	olied as a minimum)			
Street Address								
St	tate				Post Code			
С	Country							
Phone Number					Mobile Number			
Email Address								
Postal Address								
If there are additiona	al account holders pl	ease attach	details in wr	iting t	o this Application Form.			

3. Name of Company, Corporate Trustee of a Trust or Superannuation Fund

Name of Company or Corporate Trustee					
MANTILLA SUPER	ANNUATION PTY LTD				
Account designation	i.e. name of trustee / superannuation fund				
MANTILLA SUPER	ANNUATION PTY LTD AS TRUSTEE FOR J & C M	ANTILLA SUPERANNUATION FUND			
Registered Office		ABN/ACN and / or Tax File Number			
17 VALLEY VIEW C	RES, GLENDALE, NSW 2285	ACN: 164 076 500 / TFN: 948 351 142			
Contact Details	Street Address and a phone number must be supplied	as a minimum)			
Street Address	17 VALLEY VIEW CRES				
	GLENDALE				
	State NSW Post Code 2285				
	Country				
Contact Name		Title			
ANE	CITO MANTILLA	DOCTOR			
Phone Number 043	Phone Number 0439 383 622 Mobile Number				
Email Address INFO@ABHUB.COM.AU					
Postal Address	17 VELLEY VIEW CRES, GLENDALE, NSW 2285				

4. How would you like to receive your payments?

Interest payments or distributions will be made by credit transfer to your nominated bank account. Please provide details of your bank account below.

Distributions or Interest payments will be made by electronic transfer to the nominated account below:				
Account Name (for interest or distributions - account must bear the name of the Applicant and match the supporting AML-CTF				
identification documentation supplied) MANTILLA SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD AS TRUSTEE F				
Name of Bank or Financial Institution CBA	Address			
B/S/B	Account Number			
062-806	1039 6582			

Financial Adviser, Agent or Broker (If applicable)				
Person		Company		
Phone Number		Mobile Number		
Email Address				
Postal Address				
Stamp	Name	Signature		

APPLICATION FORM COMPLETED WITH CORRECT DETAILS

	х	

If investing through a Superannuation fund or Trust, has the correct trustee been used?

A cheque for \$ being the Minimum Subscription made out to: "Guardian Securities Limited – MMF 6 Application Account" is attached.



I have included the correct Anti-money Laundering documentation

- Investing as an individual Individual ID forms
- Investing as a company Company ID form
- Super Fund or Trustee depending on the Trustee



If individual trustees, Anti-money laundering documentation for each Trustee has been included.



If Corporate Trustee – company Anti-money laundering documentation certified copy of the relevant ID for each Investor or Trustee.

Important Notice – This Application Form must be accompanied by the Product Disclosure Statement.

- > The offer under this PDS is available to people receiving the PDS within Australia.
- > The PDS is dated 15 November 2013 which is the date it was issued.
- It is advisable to read the PDS & any SPDS before applying to invest because the PDS & any SPDS may contain important information about Guardian Securities Limited and an Investment in the Scheme.
- I/We have read and understood the attached Product Disclosure Statement for Master Mortgage Fund No 6 and agree to be bound by the provisions of the Scheme's Constitution and any other additional obligations or restrictions contained in the PDS and any SPDS.
- I/We acknowledge the Responsible Entity's privacy policy and acknowledge that it will hold personal information about me/us and will disclose this information to my/our authorised representative in relation to the Investment described in this Application Form.
- I/We acknowledge that Guardian Securities Limited will cease to disclose this personal information if I/we notify Guardian Securities Limited that the authorised representative mentioned above no longer acts on my/our behalf.
- I/We acknowledge that Guardian Securities Limited is not bound to accept my/our application, but may accept it in part or in whole.
- > I/We have made an offer to become an Investor in the Scheme which cannot be revoked.
- I/We confirm that I/we have had opportunity to seek professional advice regarding all aspects of this Investment and have not relied on any statements or representations made by any party (including Guardian Securities Limited and its officers, employees and agents) prior to applying, other than those written representations made in the PDS.
- I/We acknowledge that no company in the Guardian Securities group or its associated entities, its shareholders or directors guarantees the performance of the Scheme, the return of my/our capital or any specific rate of return.

SIGNING THE APPLICATION FORM

Identification (AML/CTF Act legislation requirement, see section "Guide to completing the Application Form)					
Has the required supporting documentation been	included with this application?	Yes	X		
Contact Method Authority (ID questions will be asked for	phone instructions and a call back for email and	facsimile ins ⁻	tructions)		
Instructions from the Applicant can be accepted	by phone, email or facsimile	Yes	X		
I/we acknowledge and declare that by signing this Application Form I/we have read and understood the attached PDS & any SPDS and where applicable give the declarations, acknowledgements and consents set out in the section "Guide to Completing the Application Form".					
Applicant(s) Signature (Individual, Joint Applicant	s)				
Print Name ANECITO MANTILLA	Sign X				
Date 17/02/2014	Position held (for a Company, Trust or Self-Managed Super Fund) Director of MANTILL SUPERANNUATION PTY LTD AS TRUSTEE FOR J & C MANTILLA SUPERANNUATION FUND				
Print Name CHARINA MANTILLA	Sign X				
Date 17/02/2014	Position held (for a Company, Trust or Self-Managed Super Fund) Director of MANTILLA SUPERANNUATION FUND AS TRUSTEE FOR J & C MANTILLA SUPERANNUATION FUND				
Completed Applications - signed original Application Forms and application monies along with certified copies of supporting identification documentation should be sent to the Responsible Entity whose address is shown in the Corporate Directory at:					
Guardian Securities Limited Suite 7					

211 Ron Penhaligon Way Robina Qld 4226